
IN THE UN ITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR TH E EASTERN D ISTRICT OF PENNSYLVAN IA 


THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 


Plaintiff: 
CIVIL ACTION NO. 

v. 

THE PH ILADELPHIAN OWNERS 
ASSOC IATION, 

Defendant. 

COMPLAINT 

I. The United States of America brings thi s action pursuant to 42 U.S.c. §§ 36 12(0) and 

3614(a) to enforce the Fair HOllsing Act, as amended, 42 U.S .c. § 360 1, el seq. ("the FHA"). 

2. Thi s Court has jurisdiction over this matter under 28 U.S .C. §§ 133 1 and 1345, and 42 

U.S.C. §§ 36 12(0) and 36 14(0). 

3. Venue is proper under 28 U.S .c. § 139 1(b) and 42 U.S.C. § 36 12(0) because the events 

giving ri sc 10 th is act io n occurred in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. 

4. The Phi ladelphian is a 2 1-story condominium complex, con taining 776 unit s, located at 

240 1 Pennsylvania Avenue, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. 

5. The condominiums at the Philadelphian arc "dwellings" within the meaning or 

42 U.S.C. § 3602(b). 

6. Defendant, The Philadelphian Owners Association (" POA") , is the condominium 

associat ion governing The Philadelphian. 

7. Complainant Michcle Stcwart is a perso ll with a psychological di sability, which includes 

depression, as defined in the Act at 42 U.S.c. § 3602(h). Complainant' s disability limits her 

major life acti vities, including her ability to work and a conduct a sociall ifc. 



8. Michele Stewart has been a condominium un it owncr at The Philadelphian since 1989. 

The Defendant 's policies with respect to animals res iding at or visiting the Philadelphian 

9. Prior to its 1980 conversion to a condominium complex, The Philadelphian was a 

renta l apartment complex that allowed tenants to have pets. 

10. In 1980, when The Philadelphian became a condominium complex, the condominium 

documents prohibited pels except for those already residing in the bui lding. 

II . In or around 199 [, the Defendant (l OA iss lled an Amcnded and Restated Declaration of 

Condominilllll (" 1991 policy") that stated, in rclevant part , that "no dogs, cats or other 

non-domestic mammals ... of any kind shall be rai sed, bred, or kept in any Unit or in the Common 

Elcments, " Thc 1991 policy prohi bited anyone from bringing an animal on The Philadelphian's 

passenger elevators. Animals al ready living al The Phi ladelph ian were "grand fa thered" in under 

Ihis policy and could remain. 

12. On or about April 3, 2000, the Defendant POA enacted a Dog Policy Resolution 

("2000 policy") concemi ng dogs grand fathered under the 1991 po licy. The 2000 pol icy required 

dog owners 10 pay monthly pet fees of$25.00 and usc the freight elevators and loading dock when 

trallspOtting dogs, prohi bited dogs in the main lobby and imposed fines of $ 1 00 per incident for 

any violat ions or ror any unregistered dogs. The 2000 policy also prohibited any visiting dogs. 

13. In or around 2006, the Defendant POA adopted a rev ised policy ("2006 policy") Ihat 

required dogs that had nol been grand fathered under previous pel policies issued by the POA to be 

removed from The Philadelphian within th irty days and imposed a dail y fine of S I 00 for owners 

who did not comply with thi s policy. In addi tion, the 2006 policy required that all owners ordogs 

usc Ihe freight elevators and slay out o f the mai n lobby or face the imposit ion of a fine of S 1 00. 
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14. In or around March of2007, the Defend ant POA issued a pet policy ("2007 policy") that 

prohi bited dogs, cats, or other animals from residing in The Philadelph ian complex unless the 

animal had been "gnmdlilthered in" or was a "service animal" as defined by the Americans with 

Disabil iti es Act. The 2007 policy required owners o f grand falhered dogs to lise the freight 

elevator to transport thei r dog and, ifit was out of service, to lise a passcnger elevator on the 

condition that the owncr and dog trans fer to an alt ernate frei ght elevator on the second floor. The 

2007 pol icy also prohibited dogs in the main lobby, subject to a fine of $ 1 00 per incident. In 

addi tion, the 2007 policy required that medical doculll cntat ion be provided to the POA with 

evidence that the animal was trai ned if an owner with a di sability was requesting an assistance 

an imal. In cases where a person with a di sabi lity req uiring an assistance an imal was visiting the 

Phi ladelphian, the 2007 policy provided that the Board might approve the visitat ion, but only on a 

ease-by-ease basis and if a resident could provide medical certifi cat ion o flhe visitor's need. 

15. On or abo lit May 13, 2008, the POA adopted a "Pet Issue Statement" at a condominium 

association open meetin g. The Statement declared that dogs and cats arc not pen-nill ed in The 

Philadelphian , un less grandfathcred in 1994 or penni li ed under thc Fair I-lousing Act. The 

Statcment provided that a pcrson must meet the requircments o f the FHA, which it ident ifi ed as 

"very stri ct," in order 10 qualify as a person with a di sabili ty. The Statement stated that "proof of 

sllch a disability may requi re more than just a doctor's note" and that the animal "may be required 

to have had individual and possible special training 10 distinguish the animal from an ordinary 

PCI." 
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16. In or around April 2011 , Defendant POA enacted a new written pet policy ("20 II 

policy") that it forwarded to all resident s. The 2011 policy ineoq)orated the previous 

Defendant POA pet policies and further states: 

Any res ident requesting an exception to thi s Policy by a reasonable 

accommodation under the federal law (the Fair Housing Amendments Act) 

must first submit such request in writing to the POA Management Office. 

All such requests will be considered by the POA on a case by ease basis; 

and reasonable accommodations may be granted upon good cause shown. 

If pennitted by prior POA grand fathering or by a POA reasonable 

accommodation exception (for an approved assistance animal), only one 

such animal may be kept in any Unit and it must be li censed and kept in 

compliance with applicable Philadelphia law. Al l animals must be 

registered with the POA. No visiting animals, except ADA approved and 

trained service an imals, are permitt ed anywhere in the building. 


17. The 20 11 policy further states that "all residents with a permitted animal arc not allowed 

in the Main Lobby, passenger elevators, ... Main Lobby sitting rooms, Shuttle Bus, Library, Art 

Room, Social Rooms, Swimming Pool Area , Fitness Rooms, Management Office, Mailroom and 

Laundry Room." The 2011 pol icy requires that residents accompanying a "pennitted animal" 

must only use freight elevators and if the freight elevators arc out of service can usc a passenger 

elevator to the second floor "but such residents must then defer to any object ing residents already 

on a passenger elevator." 

18. The 20 11 poli cy also states that a resident with a mobility impainnellt or with an approved 

assistance animal "may pass through the Main Lobby and any other Common Areas only for 

exiting or entering the building, with no stopping, standing or sitting allowed in those areas. " 

19. In or around April 20 11 , Defendant POA sent a notice and a letter to residents of The 

Philadelphian, incl uding Complainant Stewart , entit led "Instructions to Physicians lor 

Document ing Disability Under the Fcderal Fair Housing Act" ("Instructions") along 
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with the 20 11 policy that stated that exceptions to the pel policy arc not automatic and 

may requi rc medical doclimentation or additional infonnation. The Instructions require 

a ph ysician to provide an opinion and documentation supporting a person's claim of disabil it y as 

well as the fo llowing information: professional creden tials, licenses to practice, years of practice, 

areas o f spec iali zat ion, recommended type of assistance animnl , any req uired specia l trai ning of 

such an imal, how the animal can help the pati ent and observat ions about the animal's assistance to 

the patient. In addition, the Instructions slale that "it may be necessary for you to testify under 

oath in federal court about your opinion." 

20. Unless speci fi cd by the date of the po li cy, al l of POA's policics with regard to pets will be 

referred \0 as "Defendant's pet policies. " 

Complainant 's Req ucst for Rcasonable Accommodation 

2 1. In a leiter dated October 21, 2010, Complainan t Stewart advised POA's General Manager 

that she was disabled and was in need o f an assistance ani mal. The lett er further indicated that 

Complainant would pro vide a writt en note from her doctor support ing her need for the assistance 

ani ma l. 

22. In a letter dated October 27, 20 10, Complainant's doctor advised Defendant rOA th at 

Michele Stewart is a person who has a psychological di sabilit y which incl udes depression, whose 

major life acti vit ies arc limited, and who needs an emot ional assistance an imal to ameliorate the 

cOccts of her disabili ty. 

23. In a lett er dated November 4, 20 I 0, Derendant r OA denied Complainant's request for an 

ass ista nce animal, stating she did not quali fy for such an accommodat ion. The lett er advised 

Complainant that she must "immediately comply" with Defendant POA's pet policies by removing 
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her dog from the building within th irty days or face sanctions. The letter furt her indicated that 

POA would reconsider her request if Complainant Stewart provided addi tional infonnation. 

However, the letter con tai ned no gu idance about what addi ti ona l infonnation might be needed to 

enab le her to ma intain an assistance animal. 

24. in a lener dated November 17,2010, Complai nant Stewart asked Defendant POA to identi fy 

what type of additional info rmation would be required for reconsideration of her request for a 

reasonable accommoda tion to it s pet po li cies. 

25. In a letter dated May 10, 20 II , Defendant POA ' 5 counse l lidvised Complainant that she 

must comply with the recentl y adopted 201 1 pet po li cy. She was advised that shc must submi t a 

new statement from her physic ian in compliance with the requirements described in paragraph 19 

above. 

26. In a letler datcd June 10, 20 11, Defendant POA's counse l infonned Complainant Michele 

Stewart that because she failed to comply with the Defendant POA's request fo r addi tiona l 

infonnal ioll , her pending request for a reasonable accommodation was den ied under the 20 11 

policy. T he letter further advised Complainant Stewart to remove her ani mal wi thi n thirt y days or 

face sanctions. 

27. Because of the application of the no-pels policies to Complainan t Stewart and because of 

the threat of fines or other sanct ions, Compla inant Michele Stewart has decreased her use of the 

COlll lllon arcas, which she canno t com fortably use wi thou t her 'Iss istance animal. She has not bccn 

able to fu ll y enjoy her dwell ing un it as well as the comlllon <Ircas and facilities ofThe Philadelphian 

complex without restriction. 
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The Administr:l tive Process 

28 . On January 13, 20 11 , the Complainant filcd a fai r housing complaint with !-I UD alleging 

that Defcndant POA discriminatcd against her on tllC basis of her di sability. 

29. On March 15, 2011 , HUD's Ass istant Secretary ror the Office of Fair Housing and Equal 

Opportunity ("Assistant Secretary"), filed a complaint with HUD pursuant to Section 8 1 O(a) of the 

FHA, alleging di scrimination in housing on the basis o f disability. Thc Sccretary's complaint was 

amended on or about August 11 ,20 II 32 . Pursuant to the requircments of42 U.S .c. § 361 O(a) , eb) 

and (g), the Secretary of HUD conducted an investigation of the complaints filed by Complainant 

Stewart and the Assistant Secretary for Fair I-lousing and Equal Opportunity, attempted conciliation 

without succcss, and prepared a final investigative report. Based on the information gathercd 

duri ng thc investigation, the Secretary, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3610(g)( I), determined that 

rcasonable cause cxisted to believe that Defendant committed illega l di scriminatory housing 

practi ces in connection with the subject property. There fore, on September 30, 20 1\ , the Sccrctary 

issucd a Dctennination of Reasonable Cause and Charge of Discrimination, pursuant to 42 U.S.C. 

§ 361 0(g)(2)(A), charging that the Defcndan t had engaged in di scriminatory practi ces, in violation 

of the Fair Housing Act. 

30. On Octobcr 19,20 II , Complainant Michele Stewart timely elected to have the charge 

resolved in a federal civil action, pursuant to 42 U.S.c. § 361 2(a). The Secretary subscquentl y 

authorized the Attorney General to fi le thi s action on behalfofthe Complainant , pursuant to 42 

u.s.c. § 3612(0). 

CO UNT I 

3 [. Pl aintiff re-alleges and herein incolvorates by reference the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 through 30, above. 
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32. 	 By the act ions and statements set forth above, De fendant has: 

a. 	 Discriminated agai nst persons in the temls, conditions or privileges of a dwelling, 

or in the provision of servi ces or fac ilities in connect ion with such dwelling. 

because o f handicap, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(2); 

b. 	 Re fused to make reasonable accommodations in the rules, policies, practiccs, or 

services, when such accommodat ions may be necessary to afford equal opportunity 

to use and enjo y a dwel li ng, in violat ion o f4 2 U.S.C. § 3604(f)(3)(B); and 

c. 	 Made or caused to be made statements wi th respect to a dwell ing that indicate a 

preference, limitation, o r di sc rimination based on handicap o r an intent ion to 

make any such preference, limitation, or di scri m ination, in violation of 42 U.S.c. 

§ 3604(c). 

33. As a result of the conduct o r actions of the Defendant, Complainant Miche le Stewart has 

suffered damages and is an aggrieved person with in the meaning o f 42 U.S.C. § 3602(i). 

34. The Defendants' di scriminatory actions and stat ements as set forth above were intentional, 

will ful , and takcn in di sregard fo r the righ ts of Michele Stewart. 

COUNT II 

35 . PlaintifTre-a ll eges and herein incorporates by refe rence the allegations set forth in 

paragraphs 1 th rough 34 above. 

36. There may be persons, o ther than Michele Stewart , who have been injured by the 

Defendant's discrimi natory hOlls ing practices. Such persons arc also aggrieved persons within 

the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 3602(i) . 
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37. The conduct of tile Defendant described above constitutes: 

a. A pattern or practi ce of res istance to the full enjoyment of rights granted by the 

Fair l'lo lising Act, 42 U.S.C. § 360 I ef seq. in violation of§ 36 14(a); and 

b. A denial to a gro up of persons of righ ts gran ted by the Fair "Iousing Act, 42 

U.S.c. § 360 1 ef seq. which denial raises an issue of general pub lic importance, in 

violation o f42 U.S.c. § 36 I 4(a) . 

38. 	 The Defendant's di scrimina tory actions and statements as set forth above werc 

intentional, will ful, and taken in disrega rd for the ri ghts of others. 

WHEREFOR E, the Un ited States prays fo r relief as follows: 

I. A declarat ion that the conduct of Defendant as set fo rth above viol at cs the Fair HOllsing Act, 

as amended, 42 U.S .c. §§ 360 1 ef seq . 

2. An injunction against Defendant, it s agent s, employees, and successors, and all other persons 

in acti ve concert or participation with it , from: 

a. 	 discriminat ing on the basis of disability in violation of the Fair HOllsing Act, as 

amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 360 1 el seq.; 

b. 	 fail ing or refusing to noti fy the public that dwellings owned or operated by the 

Defendan t arc availab le to all persons on a nond iscriminatory basis; 

c. 	 failing or re fusing to take such affirm ati ve steps as may bc necessary to restore, as 

nearl y as practi cable, Michele Stewart and any other aggri eved persons to the 

pos ition they would have been in but fo r the di scriminatory cond uct; and 

d. 	 failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to prevent the 

recurrencc of an y di scriminatory conduct in the future and to eliminate, to the 

ex tent practi cable, the effects of such conduct. 
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3. A rcasonable accommoda tion policy at The Phi ladelphian thm complies with thc Fai r 

Housing Act, as amcnded , 42 U.S.C. §§ 3601 el seq. 

4. An award ofmollctary damages to Michele Stewu rt und each other person injured by thc 

Defendant's d iscriminatory practi ces, pursuant to 42 U.S .C. §§ 36 12(0) , 36 13(c)( I), and 

36 14(d)( I )(8). 

5. An assessment of a civil penalty agai nst the Dcfendant in an amount authori zcd by 42 

U.S.C. § 36 14(d)( I)(C), to vind ica te the public interest. 

6. The United States furt her prays for such addi ti onal reli ef as the interests ofjustice may 

require. 

10 




Dated: September 28, 20 12 

Respectfully submi tt ed , 

~ £ 8. --TJ-I J\MS E. PEREZ ~ 
Assistant Atto rney General 

ei?it\%=~ 

Chief 

Deput Chief 
ND 


JENN FER C. CASS 
Attorney 
Unitcd States Depart ment or Justice 
Civil Rights Division 
I-lousing and Civil Enrorcement Section 

ZANE DAV ID MEMEGER 
United States Attorney 
Eastern District of Pennsylvan ia 

RET L. HUTCHfNSO 
Chief: ivil Division 
Ass istant Un it ed States Attomey 

f. 
" Assistant Uni tcd SI es Attorney 

6 15 Chestnut Street, Suite 1250 
Philadelphia, Pa 19 106 
215-843-6286 
thomas. j allnson@usdoj.20v 
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